IAEA-TECDOC-434

METHODOLOGY AND PROCEDURES FOR COMPILATION OF HISTORICAL EARTHQUAKE DATA

REPORT OF A CONSULTANTS MEETING ON THE METHODOLOGY AND PROCEDURES FOR COMPILATION OF HISTORICAL EARTHQUAKE DATA ORGANIZED BY THE INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY AND HELD IN LONDON, 18–21 MARCH 1986



A TECHNICAL DOCUMENT ISSUED BY THE INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, VIENNA, 1987

METHODOLOGY AND PROCEDURES FOR COMPILATION OF HISTORICAL EARTHQUAKE DATA IAEA, VIENNA, 1987 IAEA-TECDOC-434

> Printed by the IAEA in Austria October 1987

PLEASE BE AWARE THAT ALL OF THE MISSING PAGES IN THIS DOCUMENT WERE ORIGINALLY BLANK The IAEA does not normally maintain stocks of reports in this series. However, microfiche copies of these reports can be obtained from

> INIS Clearinghouse International Atomic Energy Agency Wagramerstrasse 5 P.O. Box 100 A-1400 Vienna, Austria

Orders should be accompanied by prepayment of Austrian Schillings 100,in the form of a cheque or in the form of IAEA microfiche service coupons which may be ordered separately from the INIS Clearinghouse.

FOREWORD

This report was prepared subsequent to the recommendations of the project initiation meeting in Vienna, November 25-29, 1985, under the IAEA Interregional project INT/9/066 Seismic Data for Nuclear Power Plant Siting. The aim of the project is to co-ordinate national efforts of Member States in the Mediterranean region in the compilation and processing of historical earthquake data in the siting of nuclear facilities.

A Consultants Meeting to prepare the first draft took place at the Imperial College, London, March 18-21, 1986. This draft was sent out to all participating Member States for review and comments. A final review of the document was made during the annual Co-ordination Meeting of the project in Vienna, December 1-5, 1986.

The main objective of the document is to assist the participating Member States, especially those who are initiating an NPP siting programme, in their effort to compile and process historical earthquake data and to provide a uniform interregional framework for this task. Although the document is directed mainly to the Mediterranean countries using illustrative examples from this region, the basic procedures and methods herein described may be applicable to other parts of the world such as Southeast Asia, Himalayan belt, Latin America, etc.

EDITORIAL NOTE

In preparing this material for the press, staff of the International Atomic Energy Agency have mounted and paginated the original manuscripts and given some attention to presentation. The views expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the governments of the Member States or organizations under whose auspices the manuscripts were produced.

The use in this book of particular designations of countries or territories does not imply any judgement by the publisher, the IAEA, as to the legal status of such countries or territories, of their authorities and institutions or of the delimitation of their boundaries.

The mention of specific companies or of their products or brand names does not imply any endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	7
2	SOURCES OF INFORMATION	9
3	EVALUATION OF MACROSEISMIC OBSERVATION	13
	3.1 Scope of field studies	13
	3.2 Local source material	14
	3 3 The effect of earthquakes on local houses	14
	3.4 Assessment of intensity	15
	3 5 Macroseismic epicentres	18
	3 6 Calibration of macroseismic data	20
	3 7 Isoseismal maps	21
	3 8 Retrieval and unification of instrumental data	21
4	FORMAT OF THE SUMMARY SHEET	23
B	IBLIOGRAPHY	27
A	PPENDIX I EXAMPLE OF WORKSHEET	29
A	PPENDIX II. THE 1627 EARTHOUAKE IN NORTHERN CAPITANATA	
4 1	(SOUTHERN ITALY)	31
LI	IST OF PARTICIPANTS	45

1. INTRODUCTION

The assessment of seismic hazard for the siting of NPP's constitute one of the major safety considerations in high seismicity zones such as the Mediterranean. This assessment generally depends on the reliability of the eventual estimation of the earthquake potential of the area in question. The IAEA Safety Guide 50-SG-S1 outlines a methodology using the seismotectonic approach.

To achieve all this, however, more information about earthquakes and more field evidence of recent tectonics is needed. Especially we need a significantly more extensive sample of seismicity, particularly of the larger events, covering much more than the period of the few decades of modern seismology, which is minutely brief on the time-scale involved in tectonic processes. Obviously the large earthquakes which are informative events are far less numerous than small earthquakes, and as such are not easily counted unless the period of observation is sufficiently long. It is very possible, therefore, that the present distribution of seismicity in continental areas may not accurately reflect the distribution and pattern over a longer period of time and the present erratic pattern of seismicity may be due to scanty sampling of events devoid of any significant signal.

Studies of long-term seismicity in any region of the world have to incorporate and process information acquired from numerous and widely differing types of investigation. A long historical perspective is desirable, as well as familiarity both with the region itself and with the effects of earthquakes that have occurred there. In addition to macroseismic information, instrumental data covering 20th century events should ideally be of adequate high quality.

Only when these data are assembled can one begin to perceive their long-term significance. Analysis may be performed to elucidate the vulnerability of certain areas, and evaluation of the distribution and time variation of the level of seismic activity over a long period of time can also lead to a greater understanding of the tectonic processes in the region and of the underlying laws that may control the rate of activity. For the Eastern Mediterranean region long-term observations may cover a period of about 20 centuries, for the Middle East 15 centuries, for North Africa about 7 to 10 centuries and for southern Europe about 10 centuries. The extent to which such a programme of research can be fulfilled satisfactorily depends on several factors. First among these is availability of information. Clearly if little documentary macroseismic material is available for study, it will not take long to be collected and processed. This is not normally the case for seismic regions in and around the Mediterranean area, which has a long and well documented history. Secondly, one must consider the accessibility of this information, i.e. whether it may be retrieved relatively easily from printed sources, histories, newspapers and scientific publications, or whether it has to be accumulated slowly and painstakingly from unpublished sources, archives and foreign libraries. Thirdly, experience of earthquake effects in the region suggests the desirability of being able to visit areas of past or recent earthquakes and to study local tectonics as well as man-made structures, identified from recent or historical accounts of events.

Implied by these three points, and ultimately determining the success of such a programme of research, lies in the question of the time and money available for the project to be carried out. The time allowed and number of people directly involved clearly determine, or are determined by, the cost. Equally, the number of people involved influences the speed at which the work is done: superficially, the more people are concerned, the more quickly information is retrieved and processed. In practice, this is generally not always the case. Administrative problems, duplication of effort, deficiencies of collaboration and conflicting attitudes to the progress of the study all too often lead to a reduction in efficiency and productivity. It is particularly desirable that long-term, moderate funding should be available for as long as it is reasonably necessary to achieve a level of comprehensiveness that is considered to be adequate. If done too quickly, without the full particpation of the public services responsible for the collection of seismic information and with unreasonably constraining dead-lines, results from the research may be rapidly invalidated by the discovery of new data after the completion of a hasty study. Ideally, the study should be performed by a small number of specialists in close contact with each other, drawing on the help of other specialists and public services, without unduly strict time restraint. Some elucidation of the procedure involved highlights these pre-requisites.

2. SOURCES OF INFORMATION

A region with a well-documented history may be capable of furnishing a considerable amount of information about earthquakes that have occurred in the past 10 to 20 centuries, defined here as the period before the advent of modern seismology. General chronicles, dynastic histories and archaeological findings may contain evidence of early events, and local histories in particular may describe the effects of earthquakes on monuments, local housing and the development of the area. These indications are generally restricted to well populated areas, particularly those in which a large urban centre is situated, and especially if the town has a long history of political and economic importance, as a trading centre, local administrative capital or political metropolis of the whole country. Information for such areas, and also for those less densely settled, may be provided by travellers passing through the country, or settling for a while in a town or area where they were interested to record local events.

Information about one country may be preserved not only by foreign visitors, but by diplomats on duty there, and other representatives of foreign powers. Data found in foreign libraries and official archives may thus supplement indigenous information preserved in histories, private correspondence, or early and recent newspapers.

All these sources of information have to be identified and studied, to extend and correct any data listed in current earthquake catalogues, most of which are based on second or third-hand information. The data they supply must be subjected to rigorous critical examination, not only to establish accurate dating and location of events in order to avoid duplication, but also in terms of the completeness of the sample. To this end, the characteristics of various historical records should be assessed, to see when and where the documents were being written, which areas were more important and which of more remote concern, which were populous and thus likely to suffer particularly from a large event; also to see which areas were frequently visited by travellers and which were not, along with the routes they took. How these factors influence the distribution of reported seismicity of the region must also be examined so that allowances can be made for areas about which little information is available. These negative and positive factors can then be taken into account when an assessment is made of the level of seismic activity throughout the country

over a long period of time. Second hand information should be avoided as much as possible.

The main categories of source material which should prove of value for the study of historical seismicity are set out below, and discussed briefly.

- (1) Existing earthquake catalogues Earthquake catalogues are, of course, a useful starting point as they summarize the present state of knowledge on the subject. They are, however, seldom accurate in detail, and list duplicated or non-existent events. Neither are they complete, nor is the measure of their incompleteness indicated.
- (2) Unpublished information
 - (a) <u>Manuscript histories</u> or other historical documents that may contain references to earthquakes or their effects. The most useful of these are general chronicles, local and regional histories, city or dynastic histories, and biographies, especailly where the material is arranged on a chronological basis. These histories may be supplemented by unpublished private diaries and correspondence or official archive material.
 - (b) <u>Public records and official archives</u>. Official correspondence between governments with their representative abroad as well as internal reports on home affairs are both potentially useful sources of macroseismic information, particularly when reports are sent on a regular and systematic basis. In addition, private collections of unpublished papers and diaries, correspondence, travel memoirs, etc. - may be found in some public archive repositories.
 - (c) <u>Archaeological evidence</u>. Much of this evidence of earthquake activity in the past has already been published, but there has been little attempt to collate it, or to determine its validity. Unpublished archaeological evidence of earthquake damage remains on site waiting to be investigated, which implies that archaeologists can provide valuable co-operation and assistance in the future.

(3) Published information

Numerous relevant published materials exist for the study of many aspects of history and historical geography, these will not only document the occurrence of historical earthquakes, but allow some examination of the context in which they occurred. It would be expected that anyone undertaking documentary research on earthquakes in this region would be familiar with the main primary and secondary sources of historical information and would therefore be capable of following these through as the research progressed. Some of the more obvious bibliographical aids are noted below.

- (a) <u>Primary historical sources</u>. These are original historical documents that have contemporary or near-contemporary reports of events, including earthquakes.
 - i) <u>Chronicles</u>; the most valuable sources for the period up to around the sixteenth century A.D.
 - ii) <u>Travel literature</u>; chronicles are supplemented by travellers' accounts of the various countries of the region; these may yield not only first-hand descriptions of individual earthquakes, but also information on the state of the country, its population and its major buildings. Travel literature often provides independent evidence of earthquake effects, and equally important, may also help to identify positively certain periods or locations where earthquakes did not occur.
 - iii) <u>Archaeological evidence</u>, including architecture and inscriptions; not only ancient sites, but also surviving historical monuments may yield direct or indirect evidence of earthquake activity. The architectural history of mosques, churches or other public edifices may contain episodes of rebuilding or repair following earthquakes, which may also be recorded in inscriptions.
 - iv) Literature related to other natural phenomena, such as astronomical events, floods, storms, epidemics, etc. It is not unusual to find reference to earthquakes in such literature. Moreover some of these (e.g. floods, epidemics) may have a causal relationship to earthquakes.

- (b) <u>Secondary sources</u>. Modern European, Middle Eastern or North African works that cover aspects of the history and geography of the region may contain references to earthquakes, and also elucidate the setting in which they occurred. Such works include historical studies, gazetteers, population studies and accounts of trade routes and communications.
- (c) <u>Newspapers</u>: The press, the function of which is to report on a wide range of contemporary events, is an indispensable source of information for the last 150-450 years or so, particularly since earthquakes have always attracted attention and interest.
- (4) Libraries and collections of documentary material Libraries, archives and selected bibliographies. It should be stressed that relatively little use has been made of the archival collections throughout the Middle East, so that relevant information regarding their contents is difficult to find. However, it is certain that their potential value as repositories of macroseismic data may in some cases be very high. The majority of the libraries are a priority for research, containing original and unpublished material as well as useful printed or secondary works. Most of the libraries in both Europe and the Middle East are useful for the study of the whole area rather than exclusive to a single country. European libraries, containing large quantities of material on Islamic and Arabic studies are numerous, either in schools of oriental languages or forming part of larger collections in public libraries and national archives. They are generally well organized with full catalogues of their holdings, making identification of their contents and of specific works quite straightforward. Lists of these institutions may be derived from The World of Learning (the most recent edition is for 1981/82). The most important archives are those of countries which by virtue of long trading contact, close geographical proximity or colonial or imperial involvement, have maintained a long-standing presence or interest in the Arab countries of the Mediterranean region and S.W. Asia-namely, Turkey, the United Kingdom, France, Spain and Italy.

3. EVALUATION OF MACROSEISMIC OBSERVATION

3.1 SCOPE OF FIELD STUDIES

The site of a damaging or destructive earthquake constitutes a full-scale laboratory model from which significant discoveries can be made by keen observers, be they seismologists, geologists, engineers, archaeologists, historians or sociologists. As our knowledge of the complexity of earthquakes has increased, we have become more aware of the limitations nature has imposed on our capacity to understand, in purely theoretical terms, the effects of these events, the behaviour of a community and of the ground itself, or the performance of man-made structures.

Collection of data is best achieved by field study of earthquakes, which not only offers a unique opportunity to develop an intimate knowledge of the actual situation created by an earthquake disaster, but also promotes an understanding of the real problems that it creates. For instance, it is only in this way that ground deformations or faulting associated with earthquakes can be discovered and studied. Also, the resistance of local methods of construction and century-old building techniques, as well as the efficacy of new methods, can only be gauged after an earthquake.

The social and economic repercussions of the event can also be studied at first hand, so that the picture obtained is not distorted by non-scientific considerations, such as those of local politics, which may otherwise obscure the evidence.

Field studies of earthquakes which occurred before the advent of modern seismology are even more important. The historical sources discussed in the previous chapter describe the occurrence of a multitude of destructive earthquakes in the past whose effects were partly or totally unknown. These accounts prove useful in guiding field studies to sites of early events, some of them associated with faulting representative of very recent tectonic activity. These indications of past activity are essential for an accurate assessment of local earthquake risk.

The size (magnitude) of historical earthquakes can be assessed from the degree of damage caused in the epicentral area of the event (epicentral Intensity), the extent of the area over which the shock was felt (radius of perceptibility), and from other factors which can then be calibrated against macroseismic information of similar twentieth-century earthquakes. Much of the effort, therefore, should be concentrated on identification in the field of the meizoseismal area of all significant events, both historical and modern, for which literary or instrumental data exist and on uniform assessment of their epicentral Intensities.

3.2 LOCAL SOURCE MATERIAL

Information may usually be collected from local educated elders or people who because of their trade were familiar with local history. Quite often this leads to others in the region who possess additional information and occassionally family records. In many instances two or three independently- interviewed individuals may give basically the same details, thus confirming the reliability of the information. Without family records, oral information may seldom go back for more than three generations.

3.3 THE EFFECT OF EARTHQUAKES ON LOCAL HOUSES

A general observation about a typical house in the Eastern Mediterranean is that its inherent strength is very low and extremely variable, and its vulnerability to earthquakes extremely high.

The degree of damage or destruction observed in the field after earthquakes is proportional to the size of the housing unit or village affected. It was found that the larger the unit or settlement, the heavier the apparent damage. This is understandable when one considers how housing units and villages are built and expanded, i.e. simply by joining new adobe or rubble stone masonry elements to the existing ones. As a single detached house develops into a cluster of houses, and as the size and age of the group increases, it becomes increasingly probable that weaknesses and flaws will be present.

This produces weak units, and the resistance of a cluster, be it a single large house or a settlement, tends to become that of its weakest unit. In many instances it was found that the collapse of a unit affected others attached to it, the damage spreading out for a considerable distance from the original failure.

3.4 ASSESSMENT OF INTENSITY

In many parts of the Mediterranean the maximum Intensity in any destructive earthquake appears to be effectively the same; that is, at Intensity VIII on the Modified Mercalli (MM) scale, all adobe or other poorly built masonry houses are destroyed. Higher Intensity earthquakes can only be assessed from the behaviour of timber-frame or other types of construction with greater inherent resistance. In field studies, wherever adobe or other poorly built masonry is found in the epicentral area, it may be totally destroyed, while timber-framed houses may suffer comparatively less. The fact that in practice only one of these types of construction is normally available for observation in any one area may make it practically impossible to assess epicentral Intensities greater than VIII (MM). The degree of damage to a single adobe or other poorly built masonry house is generally an indication of the weakness of the structure rather than of the strength of ground shaking, making it very difficult to assign Intensity as the mode rather than the mean value observed at a particular site with relatively few dwellings.

Thus, conventional Intensity scales may be too subjective and often misleading, especially when they were designed to describe conditions in other parts of the world. A comparison of epicentral Intensities assessed independently by different investigators of the same event show unacceptable differences, from one to three grades. This also shows how sensitive the method is to the experience of the investigator and the means and time at his disposal.

In contrast with other parts of the world, the ease with which earthqauke damage in rural areas seems to have been made good suggests both a tendency to exaggerate Intensities of old and recent events, and also that local materials permit not only easy destruction but quick reconstruction. Additional evidence, such as whether or not a site was abandoned because of loss of its water supply, decimation of its labour force, or decline of its commerce, is necessary for an assessment of Intensity of historical earthquakes. Details of destruction of public buildings, mosques and minarets, as well as the number of casualites, all contribute to a better understanding of the effects of the event. Survival of information about earthquake damage over a very long period, a millennium or so, though not in itself conclusive, can also be supposed to suggest comparatively high Intensity effects.

Natural exaggeration in the sources, historical and modern, is not difficult to detect. The authenticity of the source, the style of its narrative, internal evidence in the account and experience gained from processing local information, all combine to permit a realistic assessment of the gravity of the situation. For instance, statements such as that after a destructive earthquake everyone was staying on the roofs of their houses, or that they took refuge in mosques, suggest that the shock was not in fact all that desructive. There are also cases when European travellers exaggerate damage unintentionally, mistaking the many delapidated old ruins for signs of recent destruction. Comparison between local and foreign versions of an event when possible, is also revealing.

In contrast, statements referring to fatalities among leading citizens mentioned by name, remission of taxes, famine or emigration and poems written after an earthquake all suggest a destructive event of high Intensity. Destruction of post stages, water cisterns and the disruption of communications also imply the occurrence of serious events.

Casualty figures are rather difficult to check and are anyway not necessarily indicative of the magnitude or the Intensity of an earthquake. In the past, because of the emphasis on effects in major centres, reported figures depended to a large extent on population distribution and density; even today, with fuller coverage of events, the same bias is maintained, although this may reflect the genuine situation: quite often the largest number of people killed were in towns or villages outside the meizoseismal region, within which semiabandoned settlements were totally destroyed but with little or no loss of life.

The present survival of historical buildings is not necessarily an indication that early earthquakes to which they were exposed were of low Intensity. Most of the buildings that are still standing have in fact, during their lifetime, been subjected to a number of destructive shocks and have survived through a process of natural selection. They are a very small fraction of the total number of structures that existed in early times and they represent a sample of buildings of the best final design and construction, achieved through the ages by experience, trial and error techniques, or by chance. Furthermore, frequent references occur in the sources to extensive restorations after earthquakes (or for other reasons), and even if the opportunity was rarely taken to introduce changes in design and construction to ensure a more resistant structure, these restorations, sometimes very numerous, prolonged the life of the buildings. Thus the mere existence of early monuments should not necessarily be taken on its own to mean that their sites have been free from high Intensity shaking in the past.

Similarly, the existence of tall, solitary free-standing structures such as a minaret, tower or belfry, made of brickwork, does not necessarily indicate an absence of damaging earthquakes. These special structures are far more flexible and better built than ordinary dwellings and their response to an earthquake is quite different. A near-by, strong earthquake, which may cause houses to collapse, may affect a minaret less, by merely whipping off its top. On the other hand, a large distant shock, not damaging to buildings, will overturn some minarets and damage the tops of others, but this is not an indication of high Intensity shaking. These effects are determined not simply by the distance of the minaret from the epicentre, but by a variety of factors, such as the resilience, flexibility, height and aspect ratio of the individual structures.

Without details of these characteristics of minarets that no longer exist, early statements of damage are not a reliable measure of the Intensity of shaking experienced by the structures affected, nor are these sufficiently numerous to allow any valid conclusions. Although the survival of towers, minarets and belfries over the centuries is not surprising, their disappearance nevertheless suggests the occurrence of large shocks somewhere in the immediate or distant vicinity. The same applies to the evidence of free-standing columns. Columns consisting of rigid cylindrical sections of stone can fail, not in bending as brick minarets do, but by rocking on their base and joints, a process that for homologous columns makes the highest the most stable. But because this type of structure has little reserve strength and totally lacks the benefit of being structurally redundant, the Intensity of early events can be assessed only from their observed effects on a large number of such structures.

Secondary effects, such as landslides, rockfalls and soil failures, are of limited value in assessing Intensity, however, they should always be evaluated. The destruction of a village perched on a slope, caused by sliding of the ground on which it stands, and damage to houses from rockfalls or other ground deformations can, and often may occur without the assistance of an earthquake. It is difficult to determine how strong or

light a shock would be necessary to produce these secondary effects: earthquakes, like heavy rainfalls, may act as the last straw to trigger landslides prematurely, particularly where mountain faces crumble rapidly without assistance from earthquake shocks.

Many historical events are documented only by a very brief note or description which makes a proper assessment of intensity degree practically impossible. Under such circumstances it is advisable to indicate at least the probable intensity range together with the full quotation of the text. It may also be feasible to define and use simplified grading of losses similar to that introduced for historical events in Persia (Ambraseys and Melville, 1982), i.e.

- i = 1 Total destruction of all man-made structures, including stage posts and water cisterns with a large number of people killed, including leading citizens; total loss of livestock
- i = 2 All dwellings destroyed and many public buildings ruined, with numerous casualties and some loss of livestock.
- i = 3 Many houses ruined and a few people killed.
- i = 4 Few dwellings ruined, public buildings cracked, without fatalities.
- i = 5 Shock widely felt, causing concern and in places panic.

3.5 MACROSEISMIC EPICENTRES

Data provided by historical sources and field studies are generally adequate to permit accurate locations of the meizoseismal region of earthquakes of the last two centuries. For events before about 1800, however, it is often difficult to ascertain the true epicentral region of a given event.

When several places or areas are mentioned, without any apparent indication of a meizoseismal region and no evidence of serious damage at any one location, the epicentral region can be estimated fairly closely by reckoning its position from the various places named. This technique was used to identify potential epicentral regions, not only of historal events but also of early twentieth-century earthquakes for study in the field, particularly in sparsely populated areas. The meizoseismal region of shocks felt in towns and villages round the borders of deserts or mountainous regions was often located successfully in this way, with an error of a few tens of kilometres.

In cases where only the name of a province or district is given as being affected, no precision is possible.

It is often the case, that only one place is named as affected, and then a great deal depends on the extent of detail available about the effects in that place and in its dependencies.

Internal evidence often suggests that destruction was not particularly severe and that outlying villages also suffered damage, indicating that the meizoseismal region should be sought some small distance from the town itself. Alternatively, mention of a town but with no details of serious damage may suggest either the occurrence of a local earthquake of small size, or that of a large event some distance away.

The problem of location is intimately connected with that of assessing the size of the earthquake. One measure of this magnitude is the radius of perceptibility (r') of the event, or the average epicentral distance at which the shock was felt. Our sources are generally adequate to permit an assessment of this parameter. Long-period effects, such as the collapse of free-standing high walls, or tops of minarets, the sloshing of water out of ponds and the swinging of curtains and screens in houses, all help assess the relative size of an event, and thus the location of the epicentre in relation to places where these effects are reported.

Each macroseismic epicentre may be graded according to the quality and quantity of the information from which it has been derived.

Grade (a), or good determination, implies the existence of good isoseismal maps or sufficient information describing the meizoseismal region to help define its limits. This may include evidence of faulting, or significant changes in the water supply and other factors deduced from written sources or field studies, or both. Such precision is rarely encountered in early historial documents. Grade (b), or moderate accuracy is assigned to epicentral locations deduced from evidence of the locality or district where the Intensity was maximum, with indications of places or areas affected at lower Intensities, that help assess the limits of the meizoseismal region.

Lower grades, all denoting poor determination, are assigned according to the types of macroseismic data available:

Grade (c) is used for locations based only on the evidence of high Intensity shaking reported at one locality or town, and also for locations calculated only from lower Intensity isoseismals, from radii or perceptibility or from a combination of the two. Indirect evidence, such as abandonment of sites, may also help assess the location of the epicentral region.

Grade (d) implies that the shock was felt locally; it may indicate the approximate location of a small shock, or the occurrence of a large magnitude event some distance away, for which data are still incomplete. Grade (e) denotes a very approximate location of events that were probably large but for which we have insufficient details; such epicentral locations are generally not shown on figures and are of value only on a global scale. Similar locations but not based on reliable data are deemed to be associated with dubious events, which are not listed.

3.6 CALIBRATION OF MACROSEISMIC DATA

Once collected and assessed in the general terms outlined above, it is then necessary to calibrate or normalise the data with observations of recent earthquakes. This implies that adequate investigations of recent events have been, or will have to be made, and that field studies have concentrated on all relevant aspects of the earthquake, such as damage to housing of different types, epicentral intensities, radii of perceptibility and ground effects. Field studies may also bring to light information on earlier events in the same region, particularly important if it is a remote rural area that has not been prominent in documentary sources.

As macroseismic data for recent events is likely to be fuller than it is for earlier earthquakes, to achieve a uniform scale of assessment applicable to the whole period, it is necessary to simplify the existing Intensity Scales and the criteria used to quantify earthquake effects, concentrating on the salient features that emerge from both historical and modern descriptions. On this basis, with say, a 5-grade Intensity Scale, historical data can be classified consistently alongside modern data.

This stage being reached, one should be able to have assigned epicentral intensities and radii of perceptibility to historical and modern events on a uniform basis, making use of experience from the field study of recent earthquakes. For obvious reasons, this kind of work cannot be done by an arm-chair seismologist or engineer. The effort involved will have included thorough research in documentary sources, probably written in a wide variety of languages, some retrieved relatively easily and some with difficulty by reason of the inaccessibility, or the poor state of preservation or legibility of the relevant material. Secondary areas of study, such as archaeological work on sites, and on the architectural history of both major monuments and domestic dwellings, will have contributed some useful insights. Geographical and historical study of the country will have been carried out, particularly with regard to the distribution of population and the channels of communication, which have influenced the survival of data. In addition, thorough field studies will have been made of as many earthquakes as possible. It will be appreciated that these procedures take time and require a variety of skills.

3.7 ISOSEISMAL MAPS

It is highly recommended to plot on the map individual macro-seismic observations belonging to a particular event and to draw isoseismals separating observations of different macroseismic grades. The isoseismals should not observe invidividual deviating observations, on the other hand, they should not be too generalised. The averaging is done when mean radii of isoseismals r_n are determined. The r_n values are very significant in estimating depth of foci of shallow events and in compiling intensity-distance curves for further application in hazard assessment.

3.8 RETRIEVAL AND UNIFICATION OF INSTRUMENTAL DATA

Within the context of this document instrumental data is particularly required for the calibration of historical data as described in Section 3.6. It is with this objective that a short summary related to the retrieval and unification of instrumental data has been included. Eventually the cataloging and presentation of events substantiated by both instrumental and macroseismic information could have a common format which will be discussed in Chapter 4.

To achieve a similar homogeneity for instrumental data, it will be necessary to undertake a process of revising existing epicentral location estimates and magnitudes.

This may be done from existing recordings and station bulletins, or it may be necessary, for events which are important or not previously identified or processed, to resort to original records. As with macroseismic information, the value of instrumental data must be assessed and unified, in terms of accuracy. The relocation of early instrumental epicentres is unlikely to result in new positions which are much more reliable than the originals, but major improvements can be achieved when these locations had only been adopted. For events after about 1950 and for areas of limited geographical extent, macroseismic epicentres may be used as calibration locations in joint epicentre determinations (JED). One of the methods for improving or confirming instrumental epicentres of pre-1960 events is to attempt to find correlations with macroseismic data. The true source of the earthquake may not be in the centre of the felt area and the felt or meizoseismal region is dependent on population distribution. But at least the macroseismic epicentres will not be liable to the gross mislocations which are possible with instrumental relocations.

Also, it will be necessary to calculate magnitudes for all events of the instrumental period using a standard procedure, viz. M and m, as defined in the Manual of Seismological Observatory Practice, making use of amplitude period data from station bulletins or from decoupled seismograms. In cases where instrumental data are lacking or inadequate for the calculation of magnitude, it may be possible, for shallow depth earthquakes, to estimate magnitude from other parameters, particularly the epicentral intensity of the earthquake and its radius of perceptibility or radii of isoseismals. As these can generally be determined from macroseismic data, it is possible to assign magnitudes to historical events.

4. FORMAT OF THE SUMMARY SHEET

Basically, four categories of information should be summarised:

- a) Earthquake parameters from existing homogeneous regional lists and catalogues e.g. that by V. Karnik and parameters revised or completed recently.
 This information should be followed by the final list compiled by national experts from data mentioned in b, and c, and from revised parameters.
- b) Instrumental data (periods and amplitudes of seismic waves)
 used for magnitude determination.
- c) Macroseismic data, i.e. mean radii of isoseismals, list of localities affected by the earthquake, isoseismal map.
- d) Information on degree of damage for different structural types, on casualties, injuries and economic loss.

The sheet should contain a full account of sources retrieved.

The summary sheet is attached to copies of all source information from archives, chronicles, reports, maps, etc. voluminous sources are deposited separately.

The list of localities including all names used in the past and geographical co-ordinates should be compiled.

a) Format

1	2	3	4	5	6		8	9	10
Ref.	Origin time	Epicentre co-ordinates	Depth of focus	M	n	Io	۳5	۳3	Remarks

2. Time given to full hour, minute or second according to the estimated precision.

3. Geographical co-ordinates given to full degree and its fractions according to the estimated precision. Both instrumental and macroseismic epicentres should be given. 4. Focal depth in km or in category of depth: s - very shallow (h < 5 km) n - normal (h = 5-60 km), i-intermediate (h = 61 - 300 km), d - deep (h > 300 km).

5. Magnitudes can be calculated using either trace amplitudes a(mm) according to the original Richter's procedure (M_L maximum amplitudes A of the true ground motion in main seismic phases P,S,L, or the ratio A/T where T is wave period). These magnitudes are designated by m_B , M_s or M_p , m_s , M_{LH} or M_{LZ} (see e.g. Bath 1981). In short distances magnitudes based on duration of seismic waves are useful. In the absence of instrumental data magnitudes can be estimated from empirical formulae linking magnitude, with Intensity I_i and corresponding average radius of the isoseismal I_i .

Simplified formulae of the type M=f(I) are permissable only if a small variation in focal depths can be assumed. In any case, the reliability of these formulae should be ascertained before they are used.

The principal requirement for all procedures is that all formulae are consistent, i.e. they are calibrated by the same type of magnitude, preferably by the standard one based on surface waves with T = 20 s.

When combining determinations from several stations, station corrections should be introduced to reduce the scatter.

Surface wave amplitudes are not convenient for the determination of magnitudes of shocks deeper than normal except, when depth corrections are introduced, for these shocks body wave amplitudes are used.

6. Body wave magnitudes based on PZ, PH, SH, etc. amplitudes; distinction should be made between the original Gutenberg type body wave magnitudes and magnitudes based on short period PV, PZ waves T= ls I. Body wave magnitudes are recommended for events deeper than normal.

7. Intensity in the epicentre, given only if the epicentre is on the continent, for off-shore events the largest observed intensity Imax is given in Remarks. If possible MSK-64 scale should be applied.

8.9. Mean radii of isoseismals of intensities 5° and 3° respectively.

10. Any relevant additional information : landslides, tsunamis, observed faulting type, length, other source parameters determined instrumentally, e.g. size of the focus, fault plane solution, seismic moment, stress drop, etc.

<u>Notes</u>: i) Information under 2,3, and 4 should be marked by "n" if determined macroseismically during the 20th century.

ii) Magnitudes should be followed by the number of stations used for the calculation of the mean value; if available the standard error of the mean should also be added.

iii) If only a brief text describes the event it should be reproduced from the original source if it does not permit to evaluate the event in terms of parameters.

iv) Uncertain or doubtful information should be marked by a question mark or commented in Remarks.

(b) Amplitude Data Format

Station	Distance	Phase	T_	Α.	T	Α_	Т	A	M/
			N	N	E	Е	Z	Z	m

(c) Macroseismic Information

The information on radii of isoseismals published by different authors should be given together with the values finally adopted. The final isoseismal map with all points of observation plotted should be attached. It is recommended to attach also the list of shaken localities with their co-ordinates and assessed intensities. (d) Information on Losses

i) Number of houses totally destroyed, i.e. completely collapsed ** " " heavily damaged, i.e. beyond repair ii) ** " " damaged, i.e. repairable iii) Number of people killed iv) •• ** injured v) Total number of houses exposed vi) vii) Total number of people exposed viii) Total financial loss in units used in that time.

(e) <u>References</u>

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- N.N. Ambraseys, C.P. Melville: A history of Persian earthquakes, Cambridge Univ. Press 1982.
- El terremoto de Andalucia del 25 de dicimbre de 1884, Instituto Geográfico Nacional, Madrid 1981.
- E. Fontserè, J. Iglésies: Recopilació de dades sismiques de les terres catalanes entre 1100 i 1906. Barcelona 1971.
- J. Vogt (Editor): Les tremblements de terre en France, Mémoire du B.R.G.M. No. 96, 1979, Orléans.
- Manetti G.: De Terremotu, libri tras. Manuscript of Vatican library. Naples, 1457 (Reprinted by Molin D., Scopelliti C.,; Enea/Rt: 1984 Roma).
- D. Postpischl (Editor): Catalogo dei terremoti italiani all anno 1000 al 1980, Consiglio Naz.delle Ric., Bologna 1985.
- V. Kárnik: Seismicity of the European Area, Part I, II, Academia Praha 1968, 1971.
- N.V. Kondorskaya, N.V. Shebalin: New catalogue of strong earthquakes on the territory of the USSR, Nauka Moscow 1977.
- N.Bath: Earthquake magnitude recent research and current trends. Earth.Sci.Rev. 17 (1981), 3/5.
- P.L. Willmore, V. Kárnik: Manual of Seismological Observatory Practice, ISC Edinburgh (1970): revised edition by P.L. Willmore in 1979 Report SE - 20, WDC-A, NOAA Boulder.
- UNESCO catalogue of earthquakes in the Balkan region (editors N.V. Shebalin, V. Kárnik, D. Hadzievski), Skopje 1974.

P. Gouin, "Earthquake history of Ethiopia and the Horn of Africa" Publ. International Development Research Centre, Ottowa pp. 257, 1979.

Appendix I

EXAMPLE OF WORKSHEET: EARTHQUAKE DATA FILE, IMPERIAL COLLEGE OF SCIENCE DATA BANK

	Saros-	-Marma	ra										1912	Aug	9	
	(Name of	event)											(NS Da	te of	event)	Masr
		Origir	Time	Epic	centre		Depth	M ·	(no.st.) m (no.st.)			Int	ensity	Source
(1)	KAR:	(GPT) 01290	0	40.50	- 27	•00	n	7.3((20)	6.8(4) r5	=500		2	X	GR
(2)	SHB&K	:0129-	_	40.60	- 27	.23m	16	7.3(20)	7.0	r 5	=460	r3=		X	(RF)
			•	•• ••	••	••	• •	•••	••			• • •	• •	• • •	••	
				(1): Mair (2): Mair	n secor n secon:	tary sou dary sou	rce of i arce of i	nformat nformat	tion tion wi	th revi	sed data.					
(3)) <u>F</u> :	01290	5	40.75	- 27	•20m* ⁽	⁴⁾ 21	7.4((5) (23)	6.9(0.3) ⁽⁵⁾ r5	=270	r3.	5=44	0 x	TS
				(3): Fina	al dete	rminatio	based	on prim	hary sc	urces			(6)	_		
	Deter-	ination	of magn	(4): Reid itudes M	and m	or re-ae from tel	etermined Leseismic	epice: ampli	itre Lude-pe	riod da	ta.		(7)	L =	50+ 1	V/RL
	Statio	o n	TN	AN	TE	AE	TZ	AZ	2 2	D° •	M /-		(8)	$R = D_{n-1}$	400 (200 /	cm cm
		Phase	Period	Amglitu	ude				Dis	tance	6 45		(9)	h =	200 (21 km	n
	UPP:	PH	フ" 1つ!!	μΩΩ	- 1211	-	-			0.2	2.13			bn=	3.2	4 _
			16	+00	•	•••	•	•			••••		(10) 8	√n=	3.2	x10 ⁻²
	(5) Deter S + n + i	ination	of magn	enitudes atude Marinov D ^O	, stand from Mi N	ard dev: lne amp: {	lation an litud <mark>es.</mark>	d numb	er of s	(5) (5) M=	used.	0.3)	23 1	n = 6	5.9(0	•3)5
	Stati		(util)	0	, _					Isoseis	mal radii	_			(12) F
	Shide	4	ю.0	22.1	7.	,46		(1	1) 	maco	v. 51et	<u>.</u>			(12	<u>r</u>
	•••	•	• • •	••••	• •	• • •			r10=	22	9					_
	(11 (1): Isose	eismal r	adii fro	r publi	shed is	oseismal	maps.	r 9 =	: 41	15					25
	(12): Recor 1.0	rputes i e. value	soseisra: s used to	l radii o deter	in tern mine (G	ns of (M3) & (10)	K)	r 8 =	: 76	33					60
									r? =	: 132	105				1	00
								_	r 6 =	= 208	-				1	75
					M =	7.290	0.37)2	29	r5 -=	-	-				2	70
									r4 =	-	-				4	-
									r2 =		-					-
															12	687
									יסע 1.	= Numbe -	er of hous "	es tots heav	illy de vily de	estroye maged	12 d	293
									Ū2 :	-	н	dama	iged	-	15	002
									К :	= Numebe	r of peop	le kill	led		2	836
									I :	= "		inju	ured		7	353
									D :	= Tota	number o	f house	es expo	sed	200	000
									P :	= Total	l number o	f peopl	le expo	osed	650	,000

References (sources retrieved, analysed and studied)

Mihailovic(1927)P P= Frimary sources Nihailovic(1933) Macovei(1912)P Watzov(1914)P Pinar & Lahn(1952) Press Reports P P= Newspapers consulted

Appendix II

THE 1627 EARTHQUAKE IN NORTHERN CAPITANATA (SOUTHERN ITALY)

D. MOLIN, C. MARGOTTINI ENEA, Rome, Italy

1. Introduction

In the field of research into past earthquakes, undertaken in relation to likely nuclear sites in Molise and Apulia, a study has been made of the one that took place in the Capitanata on 30th July, 1627.

The same research is also to be set in the context of the Work Grouup on the "Earthquake Catalogue" of the CNR "Progetto Finalizzato Geodinamica", that envisages, among other things, a re-examination of the most important earthquakes in Italy's past, based on original sources.

The earthquake had a maximum intensity of XI degrees on the MCS scale (inclusive of several shocks). It caused the deaths of thousands of people, caused fissures in the ground, variations in the regimen of underground waters, and a severe tsunami along the coasts of Apulia and Molise. The macroseismic activity closely connected with the earthquake lasted for a good three years, with a total of 1,700 shocks. The importance of the phenomenon is clear from these general data; so is the importance it assumes in relation to the safey of nuclear sites in the adjacent areas.

In the present paper dotts (...) replace all the original informations that have not been reported because they are written in old italian language and their translation could change their meaning and therefore the evaluation of intensity. Original data can be found in the italian version of the paper, published in the monography edited by "Commissione mista ENEA/ENEL per lo studio dei problemi sismici connessi con la realizzazione degli impianti nucleari" and printed in occasion of the Udine Congress of Progetto Finalizzato Geodinamica of CNR in 1981.

2. Bibliographical Sources

There is a fairly large bibliography about the

earthquake, both contemporary and of a later date. The contemporary literature is formed of reports, letters and accounts written in the days just after the event, or a few years later, at most; the later literature, on the other hand, consists of some seismological works, generally written at the end of last century, and many historical works about towns or villages involved in the seism. The event is described more or less fully by all the Italian seismic catalogues, particularly those of M. BONITO (1691), E. CAPOCCI (1861), G. MERCALLI (1883), and M. BARATTA (1901). It has been possible to obtain practically all the known contemporary literature, except for two documents, possibly transcriptions into French of reports written in Italian, referred to in bibliographies and probably to be found in Paris or Lyons.

The tracing of a 1930 publication that quotes the whole of Antonio LUCCHINO's manuscript (1630) was essential for research into the earthquake; he was living at San Severo at the time, and was therefore an eye-witness. This manuscript had already been published by M. BARATTA (1894), but only in part and it was attributed to Giulio LUCCHINI.

From research undertaken by N.CHECCHIA, who edited the manuscript for publication it was shown that Giulio, Antonio LUCCHINI's brother, could not have been the author, since he had died in 1608, before the earthquake took place. The manuscript, also published in the histories written by V. GERVASO (1871), M. FRACCACRETA (1828) and N. PITTA (1921), has proved to be by far the most important work on the earthquake. It consists of a very exact and detailed chronicle of the event, with news of the seismic period, the effects of the earthquake on the ground and on the underground waters, and the topographical siting and names of various places that either no longer exist or have changed their names.

Among the contemporary writers, besides A.

LUCCHINO there are other cyc-witnesses, who were living in villages siteated outside the area of the epicentre

These include G J. CERQUA, F. DEL VASTO and G DI NAPOLI at Lucera, F. SECINARA at Chieti, and an ANONYMOUS writer at Naples (Naples, 1627) All the others wrote their reports based on indirect information

It is interesting to note that on the occasion of the earthquake in question, the first exaples of seismic maps were probably published; they describe damage according to a macroseismic scale, of four degrees, that they include as a key. The first one (Fig 1) is by M. GREUTER (1627), the second (Fig. 2), attached to G.V. DE POARDI's report (1627) indicates "MARINARI H F " (where "F" stands for "fecit") as its author, with "BRICCIO G. del" ("del" standing for "delineavit") as artist-engraver. The first one, unlike the second, has a fairly exact topographical basis, or at least, one very like the real one. Some authors attribute the map in Fig. 2 to G.V. DE POARDI, author of the report to which it is attached; on the contrary, however, it is obvious that the author is actually H MARINARI: not only because he signed the map, but also because of the remarkable disparity between the map and G V. DE POARDI's account.

Fig. 3 shows another map (by M BARATTA, 1897), which shows only the area most affected by tremors however, but includes a series of drawings referring tto amazing events that happened on that occasion. Speaking of the seismic maps of Figs. 1 and 2, R. ALMAGIA' (1915), when comparing them, points out the differences between them, without however giving the actual wording of the key







3. Collection of Macroseismic Information

All the informations used for reconstructing the seismic activity connected with the earthquake, the preparation of the isoseismal maps and the map of the natural collateral effects are listed.

The informations provided by contemporary writers have always been drawn upon, but those offered by later writers has only been used when they are appropriate. The passages taken from works and transcribed word for word from the originals have always been published in inverted commas and proceded by the author's name, with the date of publication. In this way, it was intended to offer the reader a chance to examine the original source directly, and make and individual choice, if necessary.

This system is useful since it concentrates the information about each place drawn from many

different authors; however, it has an inconvenience in that it does not let the reader know the general context of the publication from which it has been taken.

3.1 Seismic Activity between 1621 and 1630

All known shocks have been indicated in chronological order, as well as all the informations that can contribute to knowledge of the macroseismic activity in the area where the earthquake occurred in the years between 1621 and 1630. Before and after these years, tremors had not been recorded for long periods of time The date (day, month and year), time, epicentre co-ordinates and intensity according to the MCS scale are given for each shock. The time is the local time, changed into the present-day system from the "Italian stile" one then in use In that



find I for my

system, the first hour began when the Ave Maria was rung, which was itself normally timed half an hour after sunset, but sometimes a quarter of an hour after or even at the same time as the sun set. Considering the imprecision of the timekeeping at that period, it has not been considered useful to change the local time into the time-zone hour, on the other hand, the time may be considered as referring to the meridian of Termoli, or Central Europe, passing practically through the epicentre of the earthquake

The seismic activity closely connected with the carthquake very probably began in October, 1626, however, the shocks felt at San Severo in 1621 are included in the list Mention is also made of the 1625 earthquake at Termoli and Regione Frentana, reported by many authors, although it very probably never happened

68. 1621, 2am, San Severo (41.68 1538) VI degree

()

It is very likely that during 'a half quarter of an hour several shocks were felt.

6 8. 1621, alter 2am, San Severo (41.68 15 38), VI-VII degree.

()

30.7 1625, Termoli and the Frentana area, VIII-1X degree.

The carthquake, recorded in almost all the Italian catalogues, very probably never happened, since the writers who mention it, all of them late ones in any case, have fallen into clumsy errors

D ROMANELLI (1806) and A MAGLIANO (1895) mention L PIGNORIA (1629) in their accounts, but he does not refer to earthquakes taking place in 1625, but in 1627,

A PERRELLA (1889) writes about it without giving bibliographical references, and ignoring the 1627 earthquake, thus evidently mistaking it for this one,

- M BARATTA (1901) includes it in the catalogue, refering A PERRELLA (1889), and thus, refering M BARATTA (1901), almost all the most recent catalogues mention it

From the above, we can easily see the mistake in the date between 1625 and 1627, made by the authors mentioned above The information given by the writers themselves follows Period from Ociober, 1626 to 29th July, 1627

()

The above reports of shocks noticed at San Severo and Ariano Irpino should refer to local earthquakes, not the same one, considering the notable distance there is between the two places and the probable low intensity of the shocks themselves In this period, light shocks are also noted at Naples by E Capocci, and the same argument is valid, with more reason

30.7.1627, 12am, San Paolo di Civitate (41.78 15.30), X-XI degree

All the contemporary writers agree about the date of this shock, except for some minor differences in the time, very probably due to inexact measuring in their way of calculating the time, using the "Italian style" method, which was not uniform The great majority of authors give the time as "16" Italian time, corresponding to 12am according to the present system

This is certainly the strongest shock of the whole seismic period It severely damaged San Paolo di Civitate, San Severo, Serracapriola, Torremaggiore, Apricena and Lesina LUCCHINO, who was in the country at San Severo at the time, near the "delle Grazie" church, saw clouds of dust rising from the village shortly afterwards, a sure sign of severe damage The epicentre is to be taken somewhere in the middle of the above-mentioned villages, which were the most severely damaged in the whole seismic period

Amongs the descriptions of contemporary authors, only eye-witness accounts have been used, in particular that of A LUCCHINO, th only one who was actually in the epicentral area

()

30.7.1627, 0.15am. San Severo (41.78 15.30), IX degree

Only LUCCHINO mentions this shock for San Severo, however it is very likely that it was felt in all the other villages included in the area of the epicentre of the prevous shock, Similarly, the epicentre may also be considered as coinciding with the one before

()

Other earthquakes on 30th July, 1627

Many other shocks were noted on 30th July, in

the short interval between the two earthquakes mentioned above and also after them, as may be deduced from the following descriptions

()

Period from 31st July - 7th August, 1627

()

The shocks also continued during the next few days. Considering the period between 31st July and 6pm on 7th August, we have the following descriptions.

7 8 1627, 6pm, Serracapriola (41.78 15 30), X degree

There is almost complete agreement among contemporary writers about the date and time of this shock, with the sole exception of CERQUA, who times it at 23 instead of 22 Among the later writers however, there are differences of up to two days in the date

The earthquake damaged Serracapriola and Apricena again, also causing deaths The epicentre, calculated as a point between the two villages, coincides with that of the first shock

()

8 8.1627, lam, North Capitanata (41.78 15.30), V degree

()

24.8.1627, North Capitanata (41.78 15.30), VII-VIII degree

()

8th 27th August 1627

There were many further shocks during this period as the following reports show

()

6.9.1627, 5pm, San Severo (41.68 15 38), IX degree

This is the last disastrous earthquake of the seismic period, the epicentre, judging from the effects felt in San Severo and Lucera, has probably moved south, compared to the previous ones

()

Except for LUCCHINO, no contemporary writer makes any reference to the prolungation of the seismic period after the event of 6th September Only CAPOCCI, among later writers, while referring to Naples says that "17 tremors were felt here March to November", many of which are probably to be linked to the earthquake in Capitanata.

The information passed on to us by LUCCHINO follows, including that contained in the summary he makes towards the end of his account

7th September, 1627 - Spring 1628

()

12.7.1628, 3am, San Severo (41.68 15.38), VII degree

()

Final Summary

()

3.2. Effects of the earthquake on people and structures

All the information used to assest the intensity, the compilation of the quotated plane and the drawing of the isoseismal map is reported, village by village. The maximus intensity assested (XI degree MCS) is comulative of the shocks that took place during the whole seismic period. This value is, in a certain sense, confirmed in the volume "Apulia" of the T C I "Guide to Italy". It shows that there are no monuments or buildings in any of the villages comprising the area of the epicentre earlier than 1627, except for some "remains", the bottom part of some bell-towers, the lower part of church facades, rebuilt parts of castles, etc

Accumul, Scanno and Isemia are included among the villages affected by the earthquake, despite the fact that we do not know exactly whether they were damaged by the shock on 30th July or by another one in the same month

There are contrasting opinions about this by the writers concerned (see A CAPELLO and M BARATTA)

The number of human victims varies in the contemporary accounts from a minimum of 4,000 to a maximum of 17,000 dead, however, it is possible to obtain a figure surely close to the real one from the account written by A LUCCHINO This gives 900 victims for Apricena, 150 for Lesina, 350 for San Paolo di Civitate, 800 for San Severo, 2,000 for Serra

Locality	Number of 'fuochi"	Number of inabitants	Number of victims	Victims percentile
Apricena	400	2000	900	4500
Lesina		—	150	
S Paolo d Civ	200	1000	350	3500
San Severo	1000	5000	800	16%
Serracapriola	1000	5500	2000	36%
Torremaggiore	400	2000	300	15%

Capriola and 300 for Torremaggiore; adding these figures together, we reach a total of 4,500 victims, without counting, the author warns, the "number of strangers" that was "large" in San Severo, for example

However, we are not informed whether the writer means by 'strangers" travellers passing through, or more probably, people living outside the town. In any case, considering the above, and the fact that LUCCHINO does not give the number of victums for villages struck by a shock of the X or 1X degree, which must certainly have had casualties, it may be affirmed that the total number is more than 4,500 victims, but much less than 17,000

Using G. DI NAPOLI's account (1627), that gives the number of fires (equivalent to families, that may be judged as consisting of an average of about 5 persons) for several damaged villages, and the number of victims given by LUCCHINO, very meaningful evaluations of the percentage of victims may be arrived at, as can be seen from the following table.

Lists of villages having the same type of damage, usually noted generically, may be found in the writings of the authors consulted; since it has been noted that the villages included in the same list have suffered damage of quite different types, this kind of information is always preceded by the phrase "included among the villages".

In the following alphabetic list of damaged villages, any ancient or dialect names found while examining the sources have been put in brackets

(...)

3.3 Effects of the earthquake on the surface and on underground waters

There is a good deal of information and descriptions of the earthquake's effects on the environment available

When the data have been traced, they are given in Fig. 5, and shown in the key of the figure itself,

as typology of effects. When they are not identifiable, however, they have been only noted in the list, under the heading "in the affected area generally".

As one may see from the figure, the effects of the earthquake are chiefly to be found in the area within the isoseismal of the IX-X degree, particularly close to San Paolo di Civitate and along the lower course of the river Fortore However, events took place even at a great distance from the epicentre, but these were generally alterations in the regimen of the underground waters and landslides.

As far as the events occurring near Troia are concerned, one may put forward the hypothesis that a large cone of sand was formed, owing liquefaction penomena ("sand fountains").

It is only at San Severo that there is any news of events occurring before the earthquake, all the other information refers to phenomena taking place afeter the earthquake itself

Bofore the Earthquake

(...)

During the Earthquake In the Affected Area generally

(...)

3.4 The tsunami

The tsunami, according to the information gathered, took place along the stretch of coast level with Lake Lesina, Manfredonia, and the mouth of the Sangro river (Fig 5)

The same information seems rather to exaggerate the phenomenon; for this reason, it is difficult to evaluate the exact scale. Descriptions like "the sea drew back into its bed for three miles" seem exaggerated, frankly, also considering the shallow sea bed at that point. It is also difficult to interpret the reference to Manfredonia, where "it arrived up to the middle of the walls", without



FIG 4 Isoseismal map of the July-September 1627 earthquake

QUOTATED PLANE OF THE 1627 EARTHQUAKE

Locality	Lat	Long	I (MCS)	Locality	Lai	Long	I (MCS)
Acumoli	42 69	13 25	VIII	Опопа	42 35	14 40	VII VIII
Andria	42 22	16 29	VIII	Paglicta	42 17	14 50	VII VIII
Apricena	41 78	15.45	λĽ	Rignano Garganico	41 67	15 59	MILIX
Ariano Irpino	41 15	15 09	VI	Rupalta	41 86	15 28	х
Ascoli Satriano	41 20	15 57	VII	Roseto Valfortore	41 37	15 10	VII
Avellino	40 55	14 47	VI	San Giovanni in Venere	42 25	14 46	VIII
Benevento	41-13	14 77	V1	San Giovanni Rotondo	41 71	15 73	IX
Bovino	41.25	15.34	VII	San Marco in Lamis	41 71	15.64	IX
Campomarino	41.96	15 04	VII	Sannicandro Garganico	41 83	15 57	х
Candela	41 44	15 52	VII	San Paolo di Civitate	41 74	15 26	XI
Canosa di Puglia	41 22	16 07	VII VIII	San Severo	41 68	15 38	X XI
Castelluccio de' Sauri	41 30	15 48	VII	Santa Croce di Magliano	41 71	14 59	IX
Castelluccio Valmaggiore	41 34	15 21	VII	Sant'Agata	41 88	15 24	IX X
Castelnuovo della Daunia	41.58	15 13	VIILIX	Scafieta	41 67	15 90	VIII
Ceruenola	41 27	15 90	VII	Scanno	41 90	13 88	VII VIII
Chieti	42 35	14 17	VI	Serracapriola	41 80	15 16	XI
Chieuti	41 85	15 17	IX	Taverna di Civitate	41 78	15 24	XI
Dragonara	41 69	15.15	х	Termoli	42 00	15 00	VIILIX
FORRIA	41 46	15 55	VII VIII	Torre dei Giunchi	41 71	15 42	х
Fossacesia	42 24	14 48	VIII	Torre di Brancia	41 71	15 50	x
Francavilla a Mare	42 41	14 29	VII	Torre di Zeachini	41 71	15 46	х
Isemia	41 59	14 23	V11	Torre Fortore	41 91	15.33	х
Lanciano	42 23	14 39	VII VIII	Torremagnore	41 69	15 38	λΧι
Lesina	41 86	15 35	XI	Trani	41 28	16 42	VII VIII
Loreto Aprutino	42 43	13 58	V11	Tremiti (isole)	42 12	15 50	VIII
Lucera	41 50	15 34	VIII IX	Trou	41 36	15 31	VII VIII
Masseria San Chirico	41 58	15 70	VII	Vasto	42 11	14 70	VII -
Masseria Negri	,	,	x	Vieste	41 88	16 17	2
Napoli	40 85	14 27	v				





specifying which walls. It must be remembered that Manfredonia is not mentioned by any authors as being one of the towns damaged or suffering casualties.

There is no news of damage or victims in the other coastal areas either, due to the tsunami; it is very likely however that Lesina at least suffered certain effects.

(...)

4. Isoseismal Map

Since it has not been possible to identify the damage shock by shock, the isoseismal map (Fig. 4) shows the effects of the earthquake during the whole seismic period, particularly that of the shock of 30th July that took place at 12am (X-XI) and at 0.15pm (IX), on 7th August (X) and 6th September (IX).

Degrees of intensity attributed to the above shocks are uncertain, because of the lack of information available for each shock.

There are no indications that during the seismic period there were any perceptible movements of the epicentre, except for the shock on 6th September; on that occasion, the epicentre seems to have moved southwards.

The isoseismic curves of the epicentral area are rather rounded on the whole, with a slight movement discernible along the Apricena -Serracapriola axis. The roundish shape may be due to:

- effects of the 6th September shock, that affected San Severo and Lucera severely and produced a "swelling" in the isoseism towards the south;

- the high degree of intensity at Lesina (XI), very probably partly due to the tsunami, so that there is a "swelling" of the isoseism towards the north. In conclusion, it seems that the main spread of the seismic waves in the epicentre is roughly E-W. This direction, also evident on the occasion of the shock of 7th August, coincided by and large with the high structural at Apricena, which is sunk, as the deep seismic sounding make clear, in a WNW-ESE direction, under the Plio-Quaternary sediments of the "Adriatic foredeeps".

The increases in intensity, uncertain as they are, that may be noted in the area of Canosa di Puglia, could be linked to the seismogenetic tectonic structure of the lower river valley of the Ofanto.



FIG 6 Isoseismal map of the 1895 Aug 9 earthquake

The distribution of intensity in the Abruzzi region is not very much defined, owing to the lack of information available, and the relatively high intensity found in areas a long way away from the epicentre, such as Accumoli, Scanno and, to a lesser extent, Isernia, may be due to shocks with a secondary epicentre along the Appenines and the local effects or even to other earthquakes occurring in 1627 This hypothesis, put forward by M BARATTA, cannot be proved with the information available at the moment

With regard to the relatively high intensity (VIII degree) noted along the Molise-Abruzzi coastline, one may assume that this is due to an earthquake having its epicentre in the sea, of the same type as that of 9.8 1985, whose isoseisms (Fig 6) have been traced on the basis of information provided by M BARATTA (1896)

It is interesting to note how the isoseism of the 1937 earthquake (Fig 7) also follows that of

1627 in various ways, it is evident that the two earthquakes have involved the same seismogenetic structures

In conclusion, it may be stated that the detailed historical research carried out has considerably improved our general knowledge of the earthquake that occurred on 30th July, 1627, both as regards the quantity and the quality of the data gathered

As a matter of fact, it is worth noting that epicentral co-ordinates and maximum intensity obtained in this work differ from those reported in previous national catalogues, both as regards numerical value and, above all, the reliability of the data themselves, particularly because of the considerable difference obtaining between one bibliographical source consulted and another A further difference also lies in the reconstruction of the seismic period, that is more extended and more reliable in this work than in previous ones The following table shows the calculations carried out, the number of shocks occuring during the seismic period and the number of references used by previous writers



FIG 7 Isoseismal map of the 1937 July 17 earthquake.

Authors	Ep.coord.	I	n.shocks	n.ref.
Giorgetti - Iaccarino (1971)	41042' - 15019'	x	1	2
Carozzo - De Visentini - Giorgetti - Iaccarino (1973)	41045' - 15015'	x	4	3
ENEL (1978)	41°50' - 15°20'	IX	4	4
This work	410471 - 150181	X - X I	9	89

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1) AGAMLNHONE G., ISSEL A. Intorno ai fenomeni si smici osservati nell'isola di Zante durante il 1893. «Ann Uff. Centr. di Meteor. e Geod.», vol. XV, par. 1. Roina 1893.

2) ALFANO G B. Gli epicentri sismici dell'Italia con purticolare riguardo a quelli rovinosi, disastrosi e disostrosissimi «Boll Soc Natur», vol XLVI Napoli 1935

3) ALMAGIA R. Informo ai primi saggi di carte sisinithe «Riv Geogr It», anno XXI Lirenze 1914

4) ANONIMI Verbale di assemblea del 4 novembre 1627 ad Accumoli (in Cappello A., 1829)

+) ANONIMO Recit veritable et expuventable du tremblement de terre arrivé a la Pouille, provincie du Royaume de Naples Paris 1627

5) ANONIMO Vera relatione delli danni fatti dal terremoto nel Regno di Napoli con l'estirpazione di molte città & luoghi & mortalità grandissima di gente Nella Reg Duc Corte per Gio Battista Malatesta Stampatore Regio Camerale Milano 1627

6) ANONIMO Vera relatione del pietoso caso successo nulle terre contenute nella Provincia di Puglia, Regno di Napoli, cioè del terremoto sentito in questo presente an no 1627 Cavata da relationi, come si giudica, autenti che e vere, pubblicata per Gio Orlandi, stampatore alla Pietà in Napoli rella Stampa di Egidio Longo MDCXXVII +) ANONIMO Lettre des reverens Peres Capitons de la ville de Naples Contenens les horribiles effects causez dans le diet Royaume par un tremblement de terre, le trentesime de juillet 1627. Envoyez aux reverends Peres Capucins de cette ville de Lyon. A Lyon, par Jeau Jacquenceiton, demenraut proche l'Hotel de ville ----MDCXXVII

(+) not found

7) ANTINORI L.A. Raccolta delle memorie storiche delle tre provincie degli Abruzzi, Napoli 1782

8) AURELI L. Ristretto delle historie del mondo Roma 1637

9) BALDACCI O : Puglia «Regioni d'Italia», vol XIV Torino 1972

10) BARATTA M.: Sul periodo sismico garganico dell'aprile-giugno 1892 «Ann Ulí. Centr di Meteor e Geod », vol XII. Roma 1893.

11) BARATTA M.: Il terremoto garganico del 1627 «Boll Soc. Geogr. It.», s. 111. vol VII. Roma 1894.

12) BARATTA M.: Sul centri sismici della Capitanata «Riv Geogr. It », anno 1 Roma 1894,

13) BARATTA M.: Sull'attività sismica nella Capitanata Con una appendice «Ann Uff Centr. di Meteor e Geod », s II vol XVI. Roma 1896.

14) BARATTA M.: Noticie sui terremoti osservati in Italia durante l'anno 1895 «R Uff. Centr di Meteor e Geodiw, Roma Suppli al «Boll Soc Sism Iti», vol 1 Modena 1896

15) BARATTA M. Ancora sul terreinoto garganico Nuave notizie e considerazioni «Boll Soc Geogr It.», s. 111, vol. X. Roma 1897

16) BARATTA M. *Lierremoti d'Italia*. Saggio di storia, geografia e bibliografia sismica italiana. Torino 1901

17) BARATTA M. Per la storia della cartografia sismi ca italiana «Alti Congr. intern. sc. stor.», vol. X. Ro ma 1904

18) BARATTA M L'acquedotto pugliese e i terremoti Voghera 1905

19) BARATTA M. *I terreinoti in Italia*. Pubblicazioni della Commissione italiana per lo studio delle grandi ca lamità. Vol. VI. Firenze 1936.

20) BELLA BONA S Ragguagli della città d'Avellino Trani 1656

21) BONITO M. Terra tremante, o vero continuatione de terremoti dalla creatione del mondo sino al tempo presente. Napoli 1691

22) BRACHELLO A Historiarum nostri temporis Cotonia 1652

23) CANCANI A. Sulla distribuzione della intensita delle repliche nei periodi sismici italiani «Boll Soc Sism II vol VIII Modena 1902

24) CAPOCCI F Catalogo de' treinuoti avvenuti nella purte continentale del Regno delle Due Sicilie Memoria 1-11, e-111 «Atti-1st-Incoragg», vol-1X Napoli 1861

25) CAPPELLO A Meinorie Historiche di Accumoli Roma 1829

26) CARROZZO M T. DE VISENTINEG, GRORGETTEE, IACCARINO E. General Catalogue of Italian Earthquakes CNEN, RT PROT (73) 12. Roma 1973

27) CERQUA G J Tettera da Lucera dell 8 agosto 1627 (in Mercalli G , 1897)

28) CLUVERI I Historiarum Totius Mundi Roma MDCLVII

29) COLAROSSI MANCINI A - *Storia di Scunio* - Aquila 1921

30) CONSIGUO NAZIONALE DUUE RICERCHE Biblio grafia geologica d'Italia Puglia (a cura di G. D'Ura umo). Vol. V. Napoli 1939

31) COSTANTINI B 1 terremoti d'Abruzzo «Riv Abruz Sc Lett ed Arti», atino XXX Teramo 1915

32) DE AMBROSIO E - La città di San Severo in Capitanata: Memorie Storiche: Napoli 1875

33) DE GRATIA M. Appunti storici sul Gurguno. Na poli 1913

34) DEL VASTO F (P. Capuccino) Vera relatione del terribile terremoto seguito in Puglia nel prossimo passa to mese di luglio (1627), con danno et rovina di molte lerre et di due Città, con morialità grandissima di per sone nella quale s'intende la ritirata fatta dal Mare den tro il proprio letto per spatio di tre miglia, et la subita uscita dal detto letto con grandissimo empito et rovina, (use di stupore et meraviglia, li 1 eritara presso l'rance sco Sutzi 1627 (in Tessier A., 1882)

35) DEI VISCIO G. L'terremoti di L'esina. «Soc. Me tcor. It., Bell. Mens. Oss. Centr. R. Coll. Carlo Alberto in Moncaheri». s. II, vol. IV. Torino. 1894.

36) DE POARDI G V Nuova relazione del grande e spaventoso terremoto successo nel Regno di Napoli, nel la provincia di Puglia, in venerdi alli 30 luglio 1627. Ro ma 1627

37) DE SARIIS *Historia del Regno di Napoli* Napoli MDCCXCII

38) DI NAPOLI G. Lettera del P. Provinciale de ca puccini mandata al P. Generale in Napoli. Da Bovino 2 agosto 1627. (in Foglia G.A., 1627).

39) I N E L. Catalogo dei terremoti avvenuti in Italia dallo anno 1000 all'anno 1975 (tiastro magnetico) Roma 1978

40) FERRARI G., GASPERINI P., POSTPISCHUD, La va lutazione degli effetti dei terremoti storici CNR Pro getto Finalizzato Geodinamico Pubblin 238 Bologna 1979

41) FOGLIA G A Historico discorso del gran terre moto successo nel Regno di Napoli, nella provincia di Capitanata di Puglia, nel corrente Anno 1627 a di 30 lu glio à hore sedici Napoli MDCXXVII

42)FORTUNATO G La Badia di Monticchio Trami 1904

43) I NACCACHETA M. Teatro topografico storico del la Capitanata e degli altri luoghi più memorabili e lini trofi della Puglia. Napoli 1828

44) GAVINI I C. I terremoti d'Abruzzo e i suoi monu menti «Riv Abruz Sc. Lett ed Arti» anno XXX Te ramo 1915

45) GERVÁSIO V Appunti cronologici da servire per una storia della città di San Severo Fitchize 1871

46) GIACCHETTI 1 Apuliae Terraemotus Deploratio (componimento in versi) Roma 1632

47) GIANNONE P., Dell'istoria civile del Regno di Na poli. Napoli 1723

48) GIORGLITTE, LACCARINO E. Italian Earthquakes Catalogue from the Beginning of the Christian Age up to 1968 «Boll di Geog Teor ed Appl» vol XIII Trieste 1961

49) GIRARDI E – Il mercurio del decimosettimo secolo nel quale si contengono i fatti più illustri succeduti nel mondo dal 1601 fino al 1650. Napoli MDCI XIV

50) GIULIANI G B Tratiato del Monte Vesuvio e de suoi incendi Napoli MDCXXXII

51) GIUSTINIANI I Dizionario geografico ragionato del Regno di Napoli Napoli 1797-1804

52) GREUTER M. Vero disegno dei luoghi nella Piiglia quali sono rouinati dannegiati dal Spauentoso terrimo to successo quest anno 1627, à 30 di luglio, con mortali la grande come si fa coniettura passa 17 millia persone Roma 1627.

53) EOTICIIIUS J.P. Rerum Germanicarum Francoforte ad Menum 1646-1650

54) LUCCHINO A Del terremoto che addi 30 luglio 1627 ruinò la Citta di Sansevero e terre convicine (Cro naca medita del 1630). A cura di Nicola Checchia. Eng gia 1930.

55) MARCELLI L SPADIA M C., VLCCIII M. Conside razioni e suggerimenti sul problema della interpretazio ne ed elaborazione dei duti sismici (Terremoto del 30 hu glio 1627) C.N.R., Progetto Einalizzato Geodinamica, Pubbl. 238, Bologna 1979

56) MAGUANO A Larino Considerazioni storiche sulla citta di Larino Manoscritti del barone Giandome nico Magliano con l'aggiunzione delle parti II e III e del le Appendici, Campobasso 1895 57) MAGNATI V : Notizie istoriche de' terremoti. Napoli 1688.

58) MALLLT R. Catalogue of recorded Earthquakes from B.C. to A.D. 1850. Third Report on the Fact of Earthquake Phenomena Report of the twenty second meeting of the British Association for the advancement of Science at Belfast 1852. London 1853.

59) MARINARI H.,: Terre ruinate dal terremoto nella provincia di Puglia (carta allegata alla relazione di DE POARDI G.V., Roma, 1627).

60) MASCIUTTA G.: Il Molise dalle origini ai nostri giorni. Voll. I e II. Napoli 1914 Voll. III e IV, Cava dei Tirreni 1952.

61) MERCALLI G.: Vulcani e fenomeni vulcanici. «Geologia d'Italia». Milano 1883.

62) MERCALLI G: Ragguagli sul terremoto successo in Puglia al 30 luglio 1627. «Arch. Stor. Prov. Nap.», vol. XXII.Napoli 1897.

63) MILNL J.: A Catalogue of destructive Earthquakes A.D. 7 to A.D. 1899. «British Association for the Advancement of Science». Porthismouth Meeting 1911, London 1912.

64) MORONI G. Dizionario storico d'erudizione. Venezia MDCCCLV.

65) MURATORI L.A : Annali d'Italia, dall'inizio dell'era volgare fino al MDCCXLIX. Milano 1820.

66) NIEREMBERG J.E.: Historia naturae maxime peregrinae Antucrpiae 1635

67) PERELLA A ' L'antico Sunnio e l'attuale provincia di Molise, Isernia 1889.

68) PERRLY A.: Memories sur les tremblements de terre de la Penisule Italique, «Mem. Cour. et Mem. des Savants Etrangers», Acad. R. Sc. Lett. e Beaux-Aris de Belgique, Bruxelles 1848.

69) PIGNORIA L.: Simbolarum epistolicarum liber primus. Padova 1629.

70) PITTA N.: Apricena Appunti di storia puesana. Vasto 1921

71) RAGNI L., Il duomo di Termoli, Napoli 1907.

72) RECUPITO C.: De vesuviano incendio el de terre-

motus Calabriae nuntius. Roma MDCLXX.

73) REZZADORE P.: Il mondo ne' suoi fulgori e tremori. Firenze 1914.

74) RICCIOLI G.B.: Chronologie reformate s1.

75) ROMANELLI D.: Scoverte patrie di città distrutte, e di altre antichità nella regione Frentana, oggi Apruzzo Citeriore nel Regno di Napoli, Napoli 1805.

76) SARNELLI P.: Memorie dell'insigne Collegio di S Spirito della città di Benevento dall'annu della fondazione 1177 in fino al tremuoto del 5 giugno 1688 Napoli 1688.

77) SARNELLI P.; Memorie cronologiche de' Vescovi et Arcivescovi della S. Chiesa di Benevento Napoli MDCXCI.

78) SCANDONE F .: Storia di Avellino Avellino 1850.

79) SCAPINI G : Memorie storiche degli antichi terremoti, Genova 1888.

80) SLCINARA F.. Trattato universale di tutti li terrenioti occorsi e noti nel inondo .. L'Aquila MDCLII

81)STEFANELLI V.: Memorie storiche della città di Troia, Napoli 1879.

82) STOPPA T.B.: Loreto Aprulino, origine e profilo storico. Lanciano 1934.

83) TASSONE G.D.: Prag. de antefato. Vol. XIII Napoli 1716. (in Lucchino A., note di Checchia N., 1930)

84) T.C I. Guida d'Italia, Puglia Milano 1978

85) TESSIER A.º Note ed Appunti «Giornale degli Eruditi e Curiosi», Ferrara 1882.

86) TRIA G.A.: Memorie storiche avuli, ed ecclesiastiche della città, e Diocesi di Larino, metropoli degli antichi Frentani. Roma MDCCXLIV.

87) VIPEKA M.: Chronologia episcoporum et archiepi scoporum Metropolitanae Ecclesiae Beneventanae. Napoli MDCXXXVI

88) VITALE T.: Storia della regia città di Ariano e sua Diocesi Roma MIXCXXIV

89) VIVENZIO G. Istoria e Teoria de tremoti Napoli MDCCLXXXIII.

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Consultants Meeting (Imperial College, London, March 18-21, 1986)

- N.N. Ambraseys (United Kingdom)
- V. Karnik (Czechoslovakia)
- C. Margottini (Italy)
- A. Gürpinar (IAEA)

Project Co-ordination Meeting (Vienna, December 1-5, 1986)

```
V. Karnik (Consultant)
```

- B. Mohammadioun (France)
- L. Serva (Italy)
- C. Margottini (Italy)
- M. Nach (Morocco)
- B. Tadili (Morocco)
- A. Marques de Carvalho (Portugal)
- A. de Acha (Spain)
- B. Benito (Spain)
- M. Mouty (Syria)
- H. Turki (Tunisia)
- O. Kurbanoglu (Turkey)
- B. Rouhban (Unesco)
- P. Giuliani (IAEA)
- A. Gürpinar (IAEA)

HOW TO ORDER IAEA PUBLICATIONS

An exclusive sales agent for IAEA publications, to whom all orders and inquiries should be addressed, has been appointed in the following country:

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA BERNAN – UNIPUB, 4611-F Assembly Drive, Lanham, MD 20706-4391

In the following countries IAEA publications may be purchased from the sales agents or booksellers listed or through major local booksellers. Payment can be made in local currency or with UNESCO coupons. Comisión Nacional de Energía Atómica, Avenida del Libertador 8250, ARGENTINA RA-1429 Buenos Aires Hunter Publications, 58 A Gipps Street, Collingwood, Victoria 3066 AUSTRALIA BELGIUM Service Courrier UNESCO, 202, Avenue du Roi, B-1060 Brussels CHILE Comisión Chilena de Energía Nuclear, Venta de Publicaciones, Amunategui 95, Casilla 188-D, Santiago CHINA IAEA Publications in Chinese China Nuclear Energy Industry Corporation, Translation Section, P.O. Box 2103, Beijing IAEA Publications other than in Chinese China National Publications Import & Export Corporation, Deutsche Abteilung, P.O. Box 88, Beijing **CZECHOSLOVAKIA** S.N.T.L., Mikulandska 4, CS-116 86 Prague 1 Alfa, Publishers, Hurbanovo námestie 3, CS-815 89 Bratislava FRANCE Office International de Documentation et Librairie, 48, rue Gay-Lussac, F-75240 Paris Cedex 05 HUNGARY Kultura, Hungarian Foreign Trading Company, P.O. Box 149, H-1389 Budapest 62 INDIA Oxford Book and Stationery Co., 17, Park Street, Calcutta-700 016

	Oxford Book and Stationery Co., Scindia House, New Delhi-110 001
ISRAEL	Heiliger & Co Ltd.
	23 Keren Hayesod Street, Jerusalem 94188
ITALY	Libreria Scientifica, Dott. Lucio de Biasio ''aeiou'', Via Meravigli 16, I-20123 Milan
JAPAN	Maruzen Company, Ltd, P.O. Box 5050, 100-31 Tokyo International
PAKISTAN	Mirza Book Agency, 65, Shahrah Quaid-e-Azam, P.O. Box 729, Lahore 3
POLAND	Ars Polona-Ruch, Centrala Handlu Zagranicznego,
	Krakowskie Przedmiescie 7, PL-00-068 Warsaw
ROMANIA	llexim, P.O. Box 136-137, Bucharest
SOUTH AFRICA	Van Schaik Bookstore (Pty) Ltd, P.O. Box 724, Pretoria 0001
SPAIN	Díaz de Santos, Lagasca 95, E-28006 Madrid
	Díaz de Santos, Balmes 417, E-08022 Barcelona
SWEDEN	AB Fritzes Kungl. Hovbokhandel, Fredsgatan 2, PO Box 16356, S-103 27 Stockholm
UNITED KINGDOM	Her Majesty's Stationery Office, Publications Centre, Agency Section, 51 Nine Elms Lane, London SW85DR
USSR	Mezhdunarodnaya Kiniga, Smolenskaya-Sennaya 32-34, Moscow G-200
YUGOSLAVIA	Jugoslovenska Knjiga, Terazije 27, PO Box 36, YU-11001 Belgrade

Orders from countries where sales agents have not yet been appointed and requests for information should be addressed directly to:



Division of Publications International Atomic Energy Agency Wagramerstrasse 5, P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria